Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1972

Wilford M. Burton v. United States of America: Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by plaintiff-respondent Burton, and involuntary plaintiff-respondent United States of America to quiet title to realty situated in Salt Lake County, Utah, to which action defendants-appellants filed a counerclaim to quiet title to a part thereof in themselves.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court, Honorable Gordon R. Hall, Judge, sitting without a jury. From a decision, judgment, and decree, quieting title in the plaintiffs-

(Note: While in theory, the surface rights were separated from the underground rights by the unrecorded deed to the Moyles, nevertheless, the same not being of record, the "whole title" would be assessed in gross by the tax commission as mining claims to the Evergreen Mining Company, and, hence, the tax deed would not be in effect a mere redemption of Evergreen's mining or underground rights, but would comprehend a sale of surface rights as well to Evergreen.) No attack or suit to set aside this tax deed has ever been made as such [unless the unsuccessful quiet title action decree of 1963. Exhibit 13-P, of which more hereafter, might be so construed]. Matters stood thus until 1944 when James H. Moyle et ux., by warranty deed [Exhibit 6-P] purportedly conveyed their interest to the surface rights under the until then unrecorded deed of 1911, to Lakewood Farm (a corporation). Lakwood Farm attempted to convey to Wilford M. Burton, Trustee under date of December 1, 1955 (recorded December 16th, 1955) [Exhibit 7-P], but Mr. Burton, the grantee also acted as the notary public taking the grantor's acknowledgment. Likewise, on a so-called correction deed, dated December 19th, 1955, Mr. Burton took the grantor's acknowledgment Exhibit 8-P]. An attempted correction of this, proffered as Exhibit 24-P, was denied admittance by the Court [Tr. pg. 50, Rec. pg. 141]. Based on this incomplete and defectively acknowledged, purported title, Wilford M. Burton, Trustee, commenced a quiet title action in 1962 [Exhibit 33-D] against various transferees from the Evergreen Mining Company [Exhibits 28-D, 29-D]. There was a decree [Exhibits 13-P, 33-D] "purportedly" quieting title against various of the intermediate transrespondents, Burton and United States of America, defendant-appellants appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-appellants seek a reversal of the judgment and decree and entry judgment and decree in their favor as a matter of law, or that failing, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Basic title to the realty in question was deraigned through mineral patent from the United States of America to Old Evergreen Mining & Tunnel Company, a Utah territorial corporation, under date of May 22nd 1911 [Exhibit 4-P]. Old Evergreen Mining & Tunnel Company under date of November 22nd, 1911 purportedly quit-claimed the "surface rights" to an area inclusive of the disputed tract herein — but there was no recordation of this deed for a period of almost thirty years until July 11th, 1944 [Exhibit 5-P]. Meanwhile, Old Evergreen Mining & Tunnel Company under date of December 31st, 1929, through intermediate trustees [Exhibits 26-D, 27-D] deeded to Evergreen Mining Company the mining claims, including the disputed area deeds recorded December 31st, 1929. These two latter deeds made "no exception" for, nor were they noted to be "subject to" the Moyle deed or interest. The deeds were bargain and sale deeds [Exhibits 26-D, 27-D] Next, it should be noted that there was a tax sale deed from Salt Lake County to the Evergreen Mining Company, encompassing the mining claims, including the disputed area [Exhibit 32-D] dated June 1st, 1936

the United States after refusing to voluntarily join [Rec. pg. 46, par. 2]. The court ordered joinder (Rec. 48).

Further facts and the application of the law thereto will be set out in the several points argued hereinafter.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

RESPONDENTS ARE NOT RECORD TITLE HOLDERS ENTITLED TO MAINTAIN AN ACTION TO QUIET TITLE – TITLE IN PREDECESSOR LAKEWOOD FARMS DUE TO DEFICIENT DEEDS.

It is elementary that a party must have title upon which to base a claim and pursue a quiet title action. Neither respondent Wilford M. Burton, the original plaintiff, or the impleaded plaintiff, United States of America, taking by quit-claim deed from appellant Burton, have EVEN THE PURPORTED CLAIMED THROUGH THEIR CHAIN OF TITLE, because the deeds from LAKEWOOD FARM purportedly conveying any title respondents might have in their alleged line of title are, under holdings of Utah case law, invalid, as being improperly on record, due to insufficient acknowledgments [Exhibits 7-P, 8-P]. In each instance WILFORD M. BURTON, who as trustee was grantee in the deeds, took the acknowledgment of the grantor. And, an attempt to validate the void selfserving acknowledgments [Exhibit 24-B], was denied admittance by the Court. See Norton vs. Fuller, 68 Utah 524, 251 Pacific 29, holding at page 30:

[3, 4] The fact that plaintiff's mortgage was recorded is of no avail to him. As before indicated, the acknowledgment of the execution of the mort-

ferees in the appllants' chain of title, but, the decree did not become conclusive against unnamed persons because there was "no publication" made against such persons [Exhibit 33-D, page 1] nor were they named in the title of said action or complaint. By unrecorded assignments [Exhibits 29-D, 30-D, 52-D] title had passed from the transferees named as defendants in above complaint prior (June 1, 1961) to commencement of the purported quiet title action.

It should likewise be noted that although Moyle at or about date of unrecorded deed was in possession of some part of the surface rights of the group of mining claims, but, not specifically on territory herein embraced, that they had by 1936 when the tax deed sale was had relinquished their possession, since Hotel had been torn down, and, as Mr. James D. Moyle stated, "I have been very much interested in the preservation of the area as it originally was" [Tr. pg. 21, Rec. 112], and while the witness couldn't tell how long the hotel was used, he thought it was torn down around 1930 to 1936 [Tr. 53. Rec. 144]. Furthermore, area was always open to public access over the years [Tr. 54, Rec. 145]. Appellants' rights as successors under the tax deed constituted possession by operation of law.

Finally, plaintiff-respondent commenced this action on June 30th, 1969 (Rec. 1), apparently without advising his counsel that any such purported title as he had, had by quit-claim deed [Exhibit 9-P, recorded June 12th, 1969] been transferred to the United States of America. This resulted in his motion (Rec. 46-7) to add the United States as a party. The motion was resisted by

POINT II.

APPELLANTS' CHAIN OF TITLE IS AND WAS COMPLETE AND EFFECTIVE, EIGHT YEARS BEFORE LINKS IN RESPONDENTS' TITLE WERE FINALLY RECORDED, AFTER A TOTAL LAPSE OF ALMOST THIRTY-THREE YEARS.

The chain of title to these properties, subject of this suit, commenced with issuance of United States Patent to OLD EVERGREEN MINING COMPANY, as patentee on May 22nd, 1911.

Shortly thereafter, under date of November 22nd, 1911 [Exhibit 5-P], Old Evergreen Mining Company purportedly deeded the *surface rights* of various mining claims, including the presently involved claims to James H. Moyle. Now a most singular thing begins — said deed to James H. Moyle REMAINING UNRECORDED FOR ALMOST THIRTY-THREE YEARS, being placed on record on July 11th, 1944!!!

As between the parties, of course, the deed purportedly severed the surface rights from the mineral or underground rights, and, both respondents and the trial court seemed thereafter erroneously to view the rights of the parties as through these proceedings continued in that state!!

In 1929 [Exhibit 26-D, Exhibit 27-D] Old Evergreen Mining Company on eve of dissolution conveyed mining claims including those in dispute here, to John V. Lyle and Herbert Cohen as Trustees in dissolution, and the latter conveyed to Evergreen Mining Company [Exhibits 26-D, 27-D], the same property. This was some fourteen years after the issuance of the Moyle deed, which was

gage sued on was made before and certified by the plaintiff, himself, as a notary public. By reason of this defect in execution, the plaintiff's mon gage was not entitled to be recorded, and the fact that it was actually recorded had no legal effect.

To the same effect see also Crompton vs. Jenson, 78 Utah 55 (61), 1 Pac. 2d 242.

It is our contention that under these circumstances title claimed by the respondents if any still resides in Lakewood Farms, and they are not parties to, nor have they been joined in this action.

Furthermore, by virtue of Section 57-1-6, Utah Code Annotated 1953, providing a conveyance having the word "trustee" after grantee's name, without naming the beneficiaries or stating terms of the trust, and the like, is made; it is no notice of any trust, and grantee is regarded as solely an individual grantee.

And, our curative statute, Section 57-4-4, Utah Code Annotated 1953, has to do only with instruments recorded prior to January 1, 1943, whereas exhibits 7.7 and 8-P were recorded in 1955, and so is of no avail to respondents.

Furthermore [Rec. 103, Tr. 12; Rec. 104, Tr. 13] appellants objected to the receipt of Exhibit 7 [Deed from Lakewood Farms to Burton], Exhibit 8 [Correction Deed from Lakewood Farms to Burton], Exhibit 9 [Deed from Burton to United States], which objections were overruled and are hereby cited as further error on part of the trial Court.

still unrecorded. It might be well to note here, that both these deeds recited that the property described in the conveyances was subject to Moyle's surface rights on Silver Lake Claims No. 1, No. 2, No. 3 and the Moyle deed at that time was still not recorded.

By tax deed from Salt Lake County to Evergreen Mining Company dated [Exhibit 32-D] June 1st, 1936 the Evergreen Mining Company acquired all the rights both surface and subsurface to the mining claims in question here. Inasmuch as the failure of Moyle to record his deed, did not, in the tax assessment procedure effectuate any change in the tax rolls separating the two titles (since the tax commission is bound by the record of title in the recorder's office), which were still in the Evergreen Mining Company. Hence, the tax sale was not insofar as Evergreen Mining Company was concerned, a mere redemption of its title, but, included the whole bundle of rights, including the surface of these claims that Moyle title being an adverse one to appellants' predecessor and underground rights. There is now a fully and completely made chain of title from the beginning, vesting title in appellants' predecessor at this point, and PRIOR TO THE RECORDATION OF A LINK (the Moyle deed) of the RESPONDENTS' LINE OF TITLE.

Next, the Evergreen Mining Company conveyed to Kirby and Gurholt by deed under date of July 23rd, 1954 [Exhibit 28-D].

Kirby and Gurholt, and their wives, entered into a contract [Exhibit 29-D] for sale of property (unrecorded) covered herein and other property to Allstate

Builders, Inc., Dale L. Jensen, Willard Rogers, and Eugene M. Openshaw as buyers under date of June 1, 1961, and, it is from various assignments of the buyers thereunder to the present holders of interests that title is deraigned in defendants [Exhibits 30-D, 52-D].

The appellants hereunder on all points were and are within the doctrine set forth in Annotation in 133 A.L.R. 886, which cites the Wisconsin case of Zimmer vs. Sundell [296 N.W. 589, 133 A.L.R. 882], from which annotation is quoted:

Page 887, 133 ALR

". . . As between two bona fide purchasers deriving title to the same real estate from its common record owner through different intermediate grantors, strangers to the record title, the one who first recorded his entire chain from the record owner although done after the other had recorded his immediate deed to himself, possessed the better title, by reason of a statutory provision that every conveyance of real estate which is not recorded shall be void as against any subsequent purchaser in good faith and for a valuable consideration of the same real estate whose conveyance shall first be duly recorded."

POINT III.

KNOWLEDGE OF MOYLE DEED TO BE CHARGEABLE TO A PARTY MUST BE OF CURRENT TIME, OR CURRENTLY KNOWN TO IT.

In an attempt to negative appellants' titles to the realty here involved, respondents endeavored to predicate knowledge of the Moyle deed, though unrecorded, to and through all takers under appellants' chain of title.

As before noted, the Moyle deed [Exhibit 5-P] dated 1911 wasn't recorded until mid-1944. There was no showing that in 1929, when conveyance from Old Evergreen Mining Company to Evergreen Mining Company, was had that the latter company, still had knowledge of the Moyle deed, which, already for 18 years had remained unrecorded; and, the deeds from Old Evergreen to the trustees and from the trustees to the Evergreen [Exhibits 26-D, 27-D] contained an entirely different version of the retention of Moyle surface rights, relating only to surface rights on Silver Lake Claims No. 1, No. 2, No. 3. These claims not involved in this suit.

The rule is, insofar as applicable law is concerned: 58 Am. Jur. 2nd, Notice, Sec. 19, Pages 502:

"Notice in Another Transaction. If it is apparent that knowledge acquired by a person in a previous transaction was present in his mind at the time of a subsequent transaction he is chargeable with notice thereof, and the fact that it was so present in his mind may be the inference from the proximity of the transaction. Where, however, it is sought to charge a person with notice in a particular transaction, it is not enough that he had previously received notice of the fact while engaged in another transaction, where the knowledge thus acquired has been forgotten."

During the lapse of 18 years, there was a change in officers and directors; and the knowledge of contents of an unrecorded deed given by the prior corporate officers a long time ago, was not in detail in their minds and the Evergreen Mining Company, paying a valuable consideration and otherwise a bona fide purchaser for value [Sec. 57-3-3 UCA 1953] even if deemed a taker

with knowledge initially, certainly could not be deemed to have recollections (in a changed directorate) and, third persons looking at record would find the grant in the Moyle deed recorded 33 years later, on record as against the 3 claim reservation contained in the Evergreen deed, and could rely thereon. Furthermore, the 1936 tax deed [Exhibit 32-D] would revest in the Evergreen Mining Company in 1936, any title theretofore conveyed by it to Moyle by virtue of the 1911 deed.

Finding of Fact Number 7, and Conclusion Number 2, are, because of the foregoing, erroneous to extent of their conflict therewith. [Rec. 74, 76]

POINT IV.

RESPONDENTS' CLAIM (UNDER PLEADING AMEND-MENT) TO PREVAIL ON ADVERSE POSSESSION IS UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE, AND INSOFAR AS FINDINGS AND CONCLUSION PURPORT TO FIND FACTS SO HOLDING, IS ERRONEOUS.

Respondents [Rec. 223, 224, Tr. 134, 135], by amendment to their pleadings, to conform to the evidence, pleaded adverse possession under a written instrument as a cause on which to base their quiet title action.

The Court's findings of fact [par. 4 and 5, Rec. 74] purport, in paragraph 4 to cover respondents' possession, and in paragraph 5, "timely" payment of "taxes" through the years 1950 to and including 1960, and from 1964 to and including 1969 on or before tax delinquent date(s).

It is elementary, of course, that timely payment of taxes [Section 78-12-12.1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953,

ignore the 1964-9 period as being short of a 7 year period, and therefore ineffectual.

POINT V.

RESPONDENT BURTON'S 1963 QUIET TITLE DECREE INEFFECTUAL AS AGAINST APPELLANTS AND THEIR IMMEDIATE CONTRACTUAL PREDECESSORS.

Commencement of a quiet title action by Respondent Burton [Exhibits 13-P, 33-D] against Kirby and Gurholt and their wives, and unknown persons in 1962, is relied upon by the respondents and listed in the courts' findings of facts [Finding No. 7, Rec. 75, Conclusions of Law No. 1 and No. 2, Rec. 76] as a further bar to appellants' titles. This is not so, and is erroneous in toto.

- (1) Messrs. Kirby and Gurholt had by contract dated 1961 [Exhibit 29-D, 6-1-'61] parted with their title, two years prior to the commencement of said action, and title could not thereby be barred by the action insofar as these appellants were concerned, unless they were covered by the term "unknown" parties. Reference to Exhibit 33-D will show that although authority to publish summons against unknown parties was obtained, NO PROOF OF PUBLICATION WAS EVER FILED, and, the decree entered January 2nd, 1963, was not effective as barring either the unnamed parties to the contract dated June 1st, 1961, or their unnamed assignees, even IF UNRECORDED.
- (2) Utah case law holds that even recording a decree or a judgment does not cut off title under a prior unrecorded deed or instrument, and is subordinate thereto.

as amended] for an unbroken period of 7 years is a requisite to such adverse possession proof, plus proof of occupancy [Section 78-12-9, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended].

Even assuming, arguendo, for the purposes of this point, that there was adequate possession by respondents; nevertheless they fail to make proof of seven years continuous timely (*Bowen vs. Olson*, 2 Utah 2d 12 (15), 268 Pac. 2d 983) payment of taxes as "found by the Court." Exhibits 42-D, 43-D, 46-P, show that for the years 1955 and 1956, that appellants paid taxes for those respective years PRIOR TO PAYMENT OF THE RESPONDENTS [*Railway vs. Inv. Co.*, 35 Utah 528 (540) 101 Pac. 586]. Facts show that:

Tax Year	Date Paid Receipt	Serial Number	By Whom Paid
	•		•
1955	10-26-'55	35532 *	Kirby & Gurholt Interests
			(Appellants' Predecessor)
1955	11-30-'55	79916	Moyle-Burton Interests
1956	11-30-'56	63859*	Kirby & Gurholt Interests
1930	11-30- 30	03033	
			(Appellants' Predecessor)
1956	11-30-'56	64383	Moyle-Burton Interests
*First in	time of paym	ent.	•

Under these circumstances, there is lacking, over the 10 year period 1950-60, any continuity [Home Owners Loan Corp. vs. Dudley, 105 Utah 208 (220), 141 Pac 2d 160] of a 7 year period, which the findings differently make error. There is a 5 year continuous payment, and a 4 year continuous payment, neither of which are sufficient to sustain "adverse possession for 7 years." It is therefore apparent that these findings [No. 4 and No. 5 (Rec. 74)], particularly No. 5, are wholly erroneous. We

Appellants' chain of title is deraigned through tax deed [Exhibit 32-D], dated June 1st, 1936 as one of the links, and, the findings of the court [Conclusion of Law No. 1, No. 2, No. 4; Findings of Fact 3, 6, 7], fail to give effect to this deed, and thereby give rise to a most serious error.

The tax deed [Exhibit 32-D] runs from Salt Lake County to Evergreen Mining Company, covering delinquent taxes on mining claims for 1931-5 (inclusive of the property herein in dispute), such tax sales being against the properties assessed to Evergreen Mining Company. The final tax deed is of course prima facie evidence of validity of all proceedings since tax sale [Section 80-10-66, Rvsd. Statutes 1933 and Sec. 59-10-64 Utah Code Annotated 1953, Subsection 5 amend], and supported by Auditor's Tax deed to property of Evergreen Mining Company, and tax sale record for the year 1931 with subsequent taxes for the years 1932, 1933, 1934, 1935 in the amounts of \$22.99, \$25.19, \$24.14, \$26.03, \$24.99, respectively. These instruments are prima facie evidence of regularity of all proceedings leading up to and including the tax sale. [Section 80-10-35 Revsd. St. 1933, and Sec. 59-10-36, Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended]. Thereafter, taxes for the years 1937, 1938, 1939, 1940, 1941, 1942, 1943, 1944, 1945, and 1946 were paid timely by appellants' predecessors. [Note: respondents claim no tax payments prior to 1946, and 1946 taxes (See Summary Sheet, Exhibits 42-D, 43-D) were paid by both parties, with appellants' payment on October 1st, 1946, being prior to respondents' payments November 15th, 1946. IT IS TO BE NOTED THAT ALL DURING THIS PERIOD (1931-1946) that the DEED

See Kartchner vs. State Tax Commission, 4 Utah 2nd 382, 294 Pacific 2nd 790, from which we quote:

"... Most courts ... have held as we do here, that the judgment lien was subordinate and inferior to a deed which predated it, whether recorded after such judgment or not recorded at all..."

See also Johnson vs. Casper, 1954, 75 Idaho 246, 270 Pac. 2d, 1012 in accord. The Kartchner case notes also that "This situation has received different treatment by courts under varying recording statutes." Both these cases relate to "monetary judgments." A California case, covering a "quiet title decree" situation while reaching an opposite conclusion (Evarts vs. Jones) points out on page 186-7, 274 Pac. Reporter 2nd, that before amendment the California statute was similar to statutes like the Utah Statute, but that by amendment, adding to the situations where unrecorded instruments were barred by a prior recorded instrument, was effective:

"... as against any judgment affecting the title, unless such conveyance shall have been duly recorded prior to the record of notice of action..."

Accordingly, we regard all reliance upon the 1963 quiet title decree initiated by respondent Burton herein in 1962, as being without any validity against appellants or their title, or, contracts relating thereto.

POINT VI.

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