1972

Wilford M. Burton v. United States of America : Respondent's Brief

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

ARGUMENT

There are three basic propositions:

(1) The surface rights were separated from the underground rights in the very first Deed to James H. Moyle in 1911, (Ex. 5-P) and were thus separately described and conveyed in an unbroken chain of title from Mr. Moyle on down to the United States Government. The defendants' claims on the other hand being initiated subsequent to the Moyle family claims have been described in terms of the mining claims and underground rights and whatever tax assessments, tax deeds or other instruments that have been introduced have all shown merely underground rights.

(2) The plaintiffs' possession and use of the property since the inception of title 50 years ago have been for agricultural, recreational and non-mining activities. Based upon this usage the assessment of taxes and payment of same has been properly initiated through the County Assessor's office on the surface rights only.

(3) The defendants-appellants have no Chain of Title which reaches them. The Gurholt-Kirby interests were cut off by a Quiet Title action in 1963. Defendants-Appellants had no unrecorded interests. However, if they did they were only underground rights, and never reached these defendants by either unrecorded or

- (g) A Tax Deed (Ex. 32-D) together with the auditor's Tax Deed and a description of property assessed was issued to Evergreen Mining Company, but no statutory steps leading up to the Deeds were shown. A Tax Deed covering East 1/2 of Alton mining claim (Ex. 34-D) only covered mining rights and not the surface rights, since the assessment and tax sale record for 1962, the year referred to in the Tax Deed, was clearly based upon a specific mining claim assessment. (Ex. 46). Such assessments are made by the State Tax Commission and are assessments of the mining activities. (R. 190, 191, Ex. 46-P, 1962 Assessment Roll, page 76 of mines)
- (h) All Assessment Rolls and Tax Deeds (Ex. 43-D, Ex. 45) relate to the assessment and payment of taxes on underground rights only. All tax sale records for the underground rights for the years 1958 through 1966 where surface rights are mentioned, specifically exclude the rights previously deeded to Wilford M. Burton, Trustee, in the following language: "less tract deed to Wilford M. Burton, TR." (Ex. 46-P)
- (i) Where surface rights and underground rights are separate, the surface rights are assessed by the County Assessor and the underground rights are assessed by the State Tax Commission, all based upon information which is for-

recorded documents. The best that can be said for defendants' claim, is the fact that they did file and record a Notice of Interest in an attempt to cloud plaintiffs' title. Until this Notice was filed in 1968 there are no documents which even remotely indicate any claim to surface rights in the Moyle property.

Respondents submit the following points in answer to the correspondingly numbered points of the appellants' brief.

POINT I

RESPONDENTS ARE PROPER RECORD TITLE HOLDERS HAVING OBTAINED PROPER TITLE FROM LAKEWOOD FARMS.

Wilford Burton was properly authorized to take acknowledgments under Section 57-2-2 Utah Code Annotated wherein the requirements are set forth, and are summarized as follows:

If the acknowledgment is within this State, then it must be taken by a Judge, Clerk, Notary Public or Recorder; if acknowledged outside of the State then it must be taken by a Judge, Clerk, Notary Public or Commissioner; and if acknowledged outside of the United States, by a Judge or Clerk of any Court in that particular Country. Under paragraph 6 of said Section, only the acknowledgment of a person known to the officer can be taken. Then paragraph 7 provides for the form of the Certificate of Acknowledgment.

Section 57-3-1, Utah Code Annotated, provides that a document with the above required Certificate of Acknowledgment is entitled to be recorded. Paragraph 2 then states that this recordation gives notice, and paragraph 3 states that the failure to record shall render the instrument void as to any subsequent *purchaser in good faith* who first records his own conveyance. Our Court has held that improper recordation does not destroy or affect the validity of the conveyance as between the parties. *Tarpey vs. Deseret Salt Company*, 5 Utah 205, 14 Pac. 338.

Appellants contend that Wilford M. Burton is disqualified to take acknowledgment because of his interest in the transaction, and by reason of this disqualification, the Deed from Lakewood Farms to Wilford M. Burton, Trustee, is invalid and the title has stopped in Lakewood Farms. There is no substance for this claim to be made under these statutes cited above. There is no disability set forth by reason of relationship of the officer taking the acknowledgment or by reason of any interest that he might conceivably have in the transaction. However, even if the trial court had found there was such a disability which a trial court apparently can do, nevertheless these defendants have absolutely no standing to take advantage thereof.

The defendants are in no way bona fide purchasers taking subsequent to the Lakewood Farms conveyance, nor have the defendants recorded any documents under which they claim subsequent to that conveyance. Defendants' only claim is through an unrecorded real estate

Court held that where the Grantee is merely a conduit and has no beneficial interest, that acknowledgment is not defective if taken by that Grantee as the acknowledging officer. *Carroll v. National Live Stock Credit Corporation*, 286 F.2d 362, (C.A., 10th Cir.). *Overton v. Harband*, 44 Pac.2d 484 6 Cal. Appel. 2d 465, wherein the Court stated that when the only effect of the acknowledgment is to impart notice, the disqualification must appear on the face of the instrument. See also *Stockmans Nat. Bank v. Lukis*, 33 P.2d 254 (Wyo.). In our State the effect of the acknowledgment is only to give form for recordation and does not affect the validity of the instrument. Clearly no defect appears on the face of the instrument. The testimony clearly indicates that Wilford Burton, Trustee, had no beneficial interest. (R. 124). *Lankford v. First National Bank*, 183 Pac. 56 (Okla.).

Admitting, arguendo, that the Deeds were not properly recorded, that no title passed through Mr. Burton, that defendants' were bona fide purchasers and in some way were entitled to assert the claim of invalidity, nevertheless the title to the property through the dissolution vested in the United States of America by means of the various conveyances from the corporate stockholders in said dissolution. (R. 219, Ex. 40-D, pages 55-60).

POINT II

APPELLANTS HAVE NO CHAIN OF TITLE TO THE SURFACE OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

contract executed in 1961. The only recorded document under which the defendants could conceivably claim is a Warranty Deed dated July 23, 1954, and recorded July 30, 1954, wherein Mssrs. Kirby and Gurholt obtained title to a portion of the underground from Evergreen Mining Company. (Ex. 28-D). Such a conveyance, however, is prior in time to the conveyance from Lakewood to Burton as Trustee.

However, notwithstanding the above, the appellants' claim is without merit or substance as a factual matter simply because Wilford Burton personally had no interest in the transaction, but in his capacity as Trustee was a mere conduit of the title under the dissolution procedures whereby the Lakewood Farms Corporation was conveying its property. In the escrow agreement (Ex. 18-P) it is clear that Wilford M. Burton acts as Trustee to receive property in distribution and in trust for the various beneficiaries and to convey out. This he did. (R. 124)

Appellants cite two Utah cases, *Norton v. Fuller*, and *Crompton v. Jensen*. Neither of the above cases is in point, since in each case the Notary Public had a direct personal interest in the transaction. In the *Norton* case he was the mortgagor and he also notarized his own signature. In the *Crompton* case the Notary acknowledged the release of a mortgage on property while he was the record title holder to the property; not as trustee, however. Both cases only hold that the mortgages were not entitled to be recorded. In the case of *U.S.F&G. vs. Schoul*, 157 Atlantic 717, 161 Md. 425 (1931), the

Appellants claim that because the Deed to the Trustee in dissolution of Old Evergreen Mining Company was recorded before the prior deed of the surface rights to Mr. Moyle was recorded, that these trustees and the new Evergreen Mining Company have a completed Chain of Title prior to the effective completion of the Moyle Chain of Title. This argument is not sound for two primary reasons:

1. The Grantees, Herbert Cohen and John V. Lyle were merely trustees in liquidation of the Old Evergreen Mining and Tunnel Company, and were thus charged with notice of the prior Deed made by the same company when it conveyed the surface rights in the property to Moyle. These two gentlemen as officers of the corporation conveyed to themselves as trustees for the corporation and thereafter as trustees in liquidation conveyed to the new Evergreen Mining Company, which by the very wording of the Deeds was set up to receive the property which the trustees were holding in liquidation. (Exs. 26-D, 27-D). Thus the knowledge of the prior conveyance by Old Evergreen Mining and Tunnel Company is imputed to the officers of the Old Evergreen Mining and Tunnel Company, in turn to themselves as trustees in liquidation and then to the new mining company which was set up in order to complete the trust which had been imposed by the Old Evergreen Mining Company. The two Deeds executed at the same time by the same persons, recorded and acknowledged simultaneously clearly indicate that new Evergreen took only that which Old Evergreen was able to convey and took

subject to any notice of prior actions of said Old Evergreen. *Palmer v. Great Northern Railway Company*, 170 Pac.2d, 768, 775, 119 Montana 68 (1946), *Hays Oyster v. Key Point Oyster Company*, 391 Pac.2d 979, 986, 64 Wash.2d 375 (1964), *Phillips v. Colfax Company*, 243 Pac.2d 276, 282, 195 Oregon 285 (1952). See also *Stevens Company vs. First National Building Company*, 89 Utah 456, 57 Pac.2d 1099, 1123 (1936).

2. Furthermore the Chain of Title claimed by appellants, if any, descends from Finn and Gurholt. These two gentlemen did not receive any conveyance from the new Evergreen Mining Company until July, 1954, at which time they recorded a Deed from Evergreen Mining Company. (Ex. 28-D). Even assuming that said Deed perfected the Chain of Title of Kirby and Gurholt, nevertheless the Moyle Chain of Title was completed in 1944, 10 years prior thereto when the Old Evergreen Mining and Tunnel Company Deed was uncovered by James D. Moyle and recorded by Henry D. Moyle, July 11, 1944. Thus Finn and Gurholt took title in 1954 with full knowledge of the recorded Chain of Title from Old Evergreen Mining Company to James Moyle and with full knowledge of the limitations in the new Evergreen Deed.

Of course, thereafter in 1963 the Finn and Gurholt title was eliminated in the quiet title action filed by Wilford M. Burton, Trustee. There still has been no recorded document subsequent thereto, evidencing title in the present defendants.

Appellants claim on page 8 of their brief that the Tax Deed from Salt Lake County to Evergreen Mining Company in 1936 for delinquent taxes for the years 1932-1936 (Ex. 32-D), in effect initiated a whole new perfect title. This argument is without substance, and would seem to be an attempt to lift one by ones own boot straps.

Said Exhibit 32, which consisted of a Tax Deed, Auditor's Tax Deed and a description of property assessed, included none of the required statutory steps preceding a tax sale and thus there was no valid tax sale. See section 59-10-6 UCA. *Bolognese vs. Anderson*, 87 Utah 450 and *Bogievick vs. Slechta*, 109 Utah 373. In effect since the assessment was against Evergreen Mining Company, since Evergreen failed to pay the tax, and since it thereafter paid the tax and thus obtained a Deed, it becomes nothing more than a redemption procedure. Evergreen could in no way be deemed to take the property under such a Tax Deed as a bona fide purchaser since it already had knowledge, when it obtained the property in 1929, of the prior conveyance of surface rights.

The appellants at page 9 of their brief cite a quotation concerning the status of two Chains of Title, one of which is completely recorded before the other is recorded. There are several reasons why the quotation is of very little help to us. In the first place it is not taken from the opinion itself, but is a note on the *Zimmer* opinion and is preceded by another note to the effect that there is very little authority upon this particular

question other than the *Zimmer* case. The difference between *Zimmer* and our situation, is that the Wisconsin statute provides that a Deed if not recorded is void, whereas our statute provides that the Deed is valid between the parties. Secondly in the *Zimmer* case the plaintiff purchased from a Grantor who had no recorded title. In our case every purchase and transaction was from a record title holder so no similar question is presented. Thirdly, as has been indicated, the trustees of the Old Mining Company were not bona fide purchasers and thus the new Mining Company being conceived out of the dissolution was in the same position. Finally there is one other distinction. The complete recorded Chain of Title of the defendants Rogers, et al. herein does not reach them. They merely claim under an unrecorded real estate contract. On the other hand the plaintiffs'-respondents' title in this matter has been completely recorded. And thus if the quotation did have any possible meaning under our Utah statutes it would be of no help to the appellants, defendants herein.

POINT III

KNOWLEDGE OF THE DEED TO MOYLE FROM THE OLD EVERGREEN MINING AND TUNNEL COMPANY IS CHARGEABLE TO THE TRUSTEES (GRANTEES) AND NEW EVERGREEN MINING COMPANY.

Appellants argue that there is no showing of the knowledge of the prior Moyle Deed and cite a quotation from *American Jurisprudence* 2d.

Company. There is no question about notice nor is there any concept that the new Evergreen Mining Company was in any way a bona fide purchaser.

Appellants' reference to various exceptions in the Deed is quite immaterial since said exceptions in no way relate to the property in question, but instead refer to a conveyance to the Old Evergreen Mining Company from James H. Moyle conveying other properties. We have no evidence or record of any such conveyance to the Old Evergreen Mining Company by James H. Moyle.

POINT IV

RESPONDENTS' PAYMENT OF TAXES WAS SUFFICIENT FOR ADVERSE POSSESSION.

The appellants challenge respondents' payment of taxes from 1950 through 1960, claiming that by paying taxes during 1955 and 1956 at an earlier hour or date than did the respondents for those years, appellants interrupted the 10 years of continuous and timely payments.

Neither the evidence nor the law cited by appellants support this position for the following reasons.

Ex. 43-D upon which appellants rely has a tax ledger with a serial number 40-645 covering years 1955, 1956, 1957 showing assessment in the name of Kirby and Gurholt. At the top is a typed statement, "*Old serial*

Of course respondents' argument is that the subsequent officers of Old Evergreen Mining and Tunnel Company are charged with knowledge of the prior corporate actions. *Palmer*, supra and other authorities cited above under Point II so hold. Subsequent knowledge is chargeable as a matter of law from the very documents themselves. It would be a strange concept indeed, if every new set of corporate officers was freed from responsibility and knowledge of the prior actions of the corporation.

The first Deed, (Ex. 5-P) was executed and issued to James H. Moyle pursuant to a valid acknowledgment wherein it is clearly set forth that the action was by authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors of the corporation. The Deed in 1929 signed by Herbert Cohen, president, and Charles L. Smith, secretary, was likewise properly acknowledged and executed by authority of a resolution of the Board of Directors. Can it reasonably be said that the 1929 Board of Directors is not charged with the knowledge of the 1911 actions of the Board of Directors?

Furthermore the 1929 Deed was executed by Cohen and Smith in favor of Cohen and Lyle, a vice-president of the company, each of which was acting as a trustee in liquidation to hold the property and to transfer it to the (new) Evergreen Mining Company. The Deed to the new Mining Company was made, executed and delivered on the same date in full satisfaction and discharge of the trust imposed by and recited in the conveyance from the Old Evergreen Mining and Tunnel

number None. Not previously assessed." This statement on the assessment is obviously incorrect for the following reasons:

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